

Understanding and supporting the integration of health and social care at a neighbourhood level in the city of Manchester.

Report part A: Rapid scoping review

January, 2019

NIHR CLAHRC Greater Manchester

(The views expressed are those of the authors and not necessarily those of the NHS, the NIHR, or the Department of Health and Social Care)



Page 1 of 21

The National Institute for Health Research Collaboration for Leadership in Applied Health Research and Care (NIHR CLAHRC) Greater Manchester is a partnership between providers and commissioners from the NHS, industry, the third sector and the University of Manchester. We aim to improve the health of people in Greater Manchester and beyond through carrying out research and putting it into practice. http://clahrc-gm.nihr.ac.uk

Report part A: Rapid scoping review

Contents

1.0 Introduction	3
1.1 What is integration?	3
1.2 National context	4
2.0 Methodology	6
3.0 Findings	7
3.1 Evidence in UK	7
3.2 Enablers/ barriers/ lessons	8
3.2.1 Communication of the integrated vision and leadership	9
3.2.2 Professional identity and the boundaries of work	9
3.2.3 Team work, intra-professional relationships and communication	10
3.2.4 Context (organisational, professional, regional and national)	10
3.3 Measurement and evaluation	12
3.4 Regional Context	13
4.0 Conclusion	16
5.0 References	17

1.0 Introduction

This rapid scoping review (Report Part A) examines the topic of integrated health and social care in the UK, which accompanies a thematic analysis of semi-structured interviews (Report Part B - see separate report). This review has been carried out in order to inform the integration of health and social care at this neighbourhood level in the City of Manchester, and has been conducted by the National Institute for Health Research Collaboration for Leadership in Applied Health Research and Care Greater Manchester (NIHR CLAHRC GM) on behalf of Manchester Health Care Commissioning (MHCC). The background to health and social care integration, and an explanation of the National context within the UK and the regional Greater Manchester Context are provided in this review.

1.1 What is integration?

There is no single definition of integrated health and social care, indeed a review from 2009 identified 175 different definitions in the literature.¹ Kodner and Spreeuwenberg for example describe it as "a coherent set of methods and models on the funding, administrative, organizational, service delivery and clinical levels designed to create connectivity, alignment and collaboration within and between the cure and care sectors".² The goal of these methods and models is to enhance quality of care and quality of life, consumer satisfaction and system efficiency for patients with complex, long term problems cutting across multiple services, providers and settings. The result of such multi-pronged efforts to promote integration for the benefit of these special patient groups is called 'integrated care' while Rosen et al define it as "a set of methods, processes and tools to support the alignment and coordination of health and care services", adding that the term "describes both a set of activities and the ability to coordinate functions and activities across separate teams and operating units.³ Integrated care describes the end products of integration in terms of services, designed around patients' needs to deliver high-quality, cost-effective care and high levels of patient satisfaction."

Categorisation is frequently used in attempts to define integration. Stokes et al differentiate between approaches to integrated care which are 'outcome based' (focused on patient/service user perspective and person-centred coordinated care) or 'process based' (focused on health system adaptations to deliver complex care) defining integration as involving "processes that overcome fragmentation of care through better linkage and co-ordination of services and seeks to improve outcomes for those with complex needs".⁴ One systematic review classifies studies into four main categories looking at: first, those focussed on improving patient care directly; second, those focussed on making changes to

organisations and systems; third, changes to staff employment or working practice; finally, the financial and governance aspects of integration.⁵ Integration of care has also been categorised by levels: team, service or organisation depending on its focus and form.⁶ For example, Singer et al split integration into five types: structural, functional, normative, interpersonal, and process. "Structural and functional refer to organizational features related to how structures and systems are set up; interpersonal and normative types describe social features related to what people believe and how they behave together; and process integration describes a course of care delivery actions or activities such as referral management and use of shared care plans".⁷ Ahgren and Axelsson include vertical integration between different hierarchical organizational levels and horizontal integration between organizations at the same hierarchical level.⁸

Willumsen et al bring together several existing models for measurement and form two dominant categories of integration; inter-organisation and inter-professional.⁹ *Inter-organisation* integration refers to the linking of existing organizational units and full integration in this form means that resources from different organizational units are merged in a newly established organization. In contrast full segregation would be no contact between service providers. Between these on the spectrum of integration is what is described as "cooperation" where coordination of networks occurs to improve contact between the organizations, but these units remain organizationally independent.

It is also important to consider national contextual differences and, in the case of this report's focus, regions of the UK. Contextual differences mean that a single model of integrated care, however defined, may not be appropriate in all areas due to factors such as existing systems, commissioning arrangements, and organisation set ups.¹⁰

The multiplicity of understandings of integration can make analysis and measurement of integrated health care policies problematic and difficult to compare.^{6,11} In addition a clear definition of what is meant by integration in different contexts is important for successful implementation and evaluation.²

For the purposes of this review, a broad definition of integration will be used to explore the integration of the neighbourhood teams in the City of Manchester as part of the NIHR CLAHRC GM process evaluation (Report Part B).

1.2 National context

The drive to introduce integrated care within the NHS is due in part to the current financial and service pressures in the UK NHS as well as a desire to improve care outcomes and

patient experiences.¹²⁻¹⁴ The well-documented pressures on the health and social care sector of an ageing population and people living longer with co-morbidities have highlighted the need to change the delivery of health and social care to make it sustainable.

Integration has been high on the national agenda for successive governments; the Darzi review in 2008 and the NHS Five Year Forward View (5YFV) in 2014 illustrate different attempts to move this agenda forward.^{12,15} The Darzi Report¹² launched a national, UK-wide initiative to reorganise health and social care services, with the aim of delegating control out from a central core to local primary care services. Integration was advocated as a means for addressing the needs of an aging population that is without adequate social care resources in place to meet the needs of people with long term health conditions but who do not need to spend time in hospital. This plan was not implemented by the incoming Coalition administration in 2010, who undertook significant legislative change in 2012 in the form of the Health and Social Care Act.¹⁶ This act introduced Clinical Commissioning Groups (CCGs) with responsibility for commissioning most services locally in the English NHS, overseen by a new organisation, NHS England. In 2014, NHS England published the NHS 5 Year Forward View (5YFV)¹⁵, setting out guidance on how the NHS and its services would change to meet the future needs of the population. The idea put forward saw an increased focus on community care, prevention, and population health and an integration of these, often focused on the goal to reduce hospital admissions and length of hospital stay. This goal was prioritised on the understanding that a reduction in high-cost hospital activity would deliver greater financial stability for the NHS as a whole. Across England sites were funded to trial and test different models of integration. These 'New Models of Care' (NMC) are currently under evaluation; however there is already evidence suggesting that integrated care is not happening as quickly or successfully as planned.^{3,17-18}

The aspirations of the 5YFV and NMC are ambitious, with a goal to achieve financial sustainability by 2020 and to provide more effective and efficient care. Moving care from acute to community through integrated service provision from health and social care is thought to reduce hospital admissions and delayed discharges, be more efficient and provide more person-centred care.^{17,19-20} This in turn is often assumed to be cost saving, a key objective of the proposed model of integration. Some have argued, however, that the predicted financial sustainability of the integration model is likely in reality to be more complicated than anticipated by policy makers.¹⁸

2.0 Methodology

In this review we seek to build on existing evidence on integration and tailor it to the regional questions facing the integration of health and social care in Manchester.

We searched the academic and grey¹ literature for studies relating to integrated health and social care. We chose to focus on studies in the UK to ensure our findings were relevant for the UK context. A broad range of databases was used to search the academic literature (e.g. health services, medical and social sciences). Our search spanned publications between 2000 and 2018 in published English. The results of the search terms in each of the databases can be seen below in Table 1.

Data base	Initial hits	Kept
PubMed	Integrated health and social care: 3583	Integrated health and social care: 65
	Multidisciplinary teams: 2085	Multidisciplinary teams: 12
	Interdisciplinary teams: 2548	Interdisciplinary teams: 10
Cochrane	Integrated health and social care: 882	Integrated health and social care: 4
	Multidisciplinary teams: 126	Multidisciplinary teams: 0 (outside geographic area or health only focused)
	Interdisciplinary teams: 518	Interdisciplinary teams: 0 (outside geographic area or health only focused)
NHS Evidence search	Integrated health and social care: 19	Integrated health and social care: 2 (plus 2 previously identified)
	Multidisciplinary teams: 200	Multidisciplinary teams: 1
	Interdisciplinary teams: 785	Interdisciplinary teams: 3 (plus 1 previously identified)
Scopus	Integrated health and social care: 6064	Integrated health and social care: 37 (plus 13 previously identified)
	Multidisciplinary teams: 2432	Multidisciplinary teams: 1 (plus 1 previously identified)
	Interdisciplinary teams: 1242	Interdisciplinary teams: 6 (plus 1 previously identified)
Total	20483	158

Table 1: Search terms used in various academic literature databases to inform this literature review

¹ 'Grey' literature is material "produced on all levels of government, academics, business and industry in print and electronic formats, but which is not controlled by commercial publishers" (<u>http://www.greylit.org/about</u>), including various kinds of reports and similar outputs.

Additional snowball searching was also conducted with bibliography searches of articles found and recommendations from colleagues with expert knowledge on the topic. This rendered a further 19 articles. Following a further review of the texts for suitability, 116 were kept.

3.0 Findings

3.1 Evidence in UK

While integrated health and social care is a current aspiration in both the UK and more broadly across Europe, its successful achievement is still a long way off.²¹⁻²³ Most cases of integration that have been implemented and researched in the UK have been small in scale, often pilots, with a focus on a specific group of patients within a given geographical area or organisation.

Geographically, integration motives and approaches are diverse and are often subject to the specifics of a given context. Across the UK such attempts are found to often be carried out in silos (even within organisations or geographical areas), with little consistency in approach and frequently no learning from previous experience elsewhere.²³ Geographical areas studied in the literature include Salford, Central Manchester, North West England, Scotland, Birmingham, Devon, North West London, Northern Ireland and Ireland.²⁴⁻⁴⁰

Integration efforts could be differentiated into two approaches; either integration for a specific subset of users or patients or integration of all services for all users/patients, with the former being far more frequent. Integration was frequently used as a targeted attempt to improve services and reduce costs for a specific groups; the elderly^{26,41-45}, diabetes patients, obesity patients, heart disease patients, mental health patients and those suffering from multiple morbidities⁴⁶⁻⁴⁸ were all groups frequently targeted through integration. Multiple studies investigating the use of integration to tackle issues facing the care of elderly patients who required care in the community reported a reduction in both hospital admissions and GP usage.⁴¹ Other examples of integration for a range of aforementioned patient groups are reported to have resulted in increased or improved access to services and assessment when needed.^{26,42-45}

Similarly, integration undertaken in Central Manchester as part of the Practice-Integrated Care Teams (PICT) project saw a reduction in secondary care admissions and patients reporting a preference for the personal approach they felt they had received as well as increased patient satisfaction with services overall.²⁵ Salford City Council and Salford

Primary Care Trust undertook a larger pilot project of integration from 2005, establishing eight 'integrated health and social care teams' across the city. These teams supported older people and vulnerable adults and were aligned with GP practice-based commissioning clusters. The evaluation of the initial pilot also identified improved access to and delivery of services in primary care.²⁸

In cases where a geographical area was targeted rather than a specific patient group, certain groups were identified as having benefitted more than others.^{26,41-45} The evaluation of an integration programme being carried out in South West England⁴⁷ found that the group which most benefitted from integration and where the most cost saving could be identified were those with multi-morbidity.

In several of these cases, there is evidence of positive outcomes, such as improvements to the process of service delivery (patients seeking help, being assessed, access), cost savings, improved satisfaction with services, continuity of care and reduction of secondary care admissions. However, meta-reviews looking at this evidence basis on integration have observed that many are not generalisable due to their small scale and specificity of context as well as arguing the evidence base in this literature is often weak.⁴⁹⁻⁵⁰ In addition, there are also numerous cases where the intended outcomes of integration have not been proven; for example financial savings have not been evidenced, or improvements in patient outcomes or care has been found to be inferred rather than demonstrated.⁵¹ Finally, in some cases, even when impacts were achieved, it was found that organisations and teams returned to old ways of working in absence of ongoing financial incentives or action to sustain new ways of working.²⁷

While models of integration may improve patient satisfaction, perceived quality of care and access to services, evidence for reductions in service cost are unclear.⁵ In addition, increased access to care could put greater strain on existing services.⁵

3.2 Enablers/ barriers/ lessons

Though varied in aim, scale and context, similarities in barriers and enablers of integration were evident within the literature and have been catalogued by those who have already carried out reviews of this topic.^{5,11,24,26} These are clearly important issues to consider for those designing and implementing integration in the future and for ongoing integrated services, especially given the widespread, evidenced failure to learn from existing experiences of integration in the UK context.²³

In this section we have categorised the enablers and barriers identified in the literature into four main categories: 1) communication of the integrated vision and buy-in, 2) professional identity and the boundaries of work, 3) team work, intra-professional relationships and communication, and 4) context (organisational, professional, regional and national).

3.2.1 Communication of the integrated vision and leadership

Clear communication of the vision of integration - what is meant by integration in this context, why it is beneficial and how it will be implemented - has been identified as a necessary element for successful integration and positive outcomes. Where a clear vision of integration was effectively shared and from this a joint vision built, the workforce was found to be more engaged in the process, becoming in some cases ambassadors for integration and change.⁵² The engagement of clinical and professional leaders is identified as vital for this to occur.³⁴ Where communication from leadership has failed the workforce was found to be less likely to buy in to the concept of integration and thus resist the changes required for its happening.^{25,43,53} Part of the challenge faced in regards to leadership is a lack of experience of bringing different services and professions together.²¹ The literature suggests it is incumbent on management to understand the experience of change from the perspective of the whole workforce and thus provide more support within their organisations to help adaptation to new ways of working.³⁰ This is needed to ensure the workforce is not only aware of the vision but also buys into it.

3.2.2 Professional identity and the boundaries of work

The barriers and enablers in this group relate to the challenges in bringing different professions and organisations together in regards to identity, interdisciplinary approaches to work and boundaries of work and profession.

A lack of understanding between different professions across all levels, about their roles and remit, competencies and contributions, statutory and legal obligations and values, was found to be a common obstacle to integration.⁵⁴⁻⁵⁶ This lack of understanding occurred between various different professions, specifically health care practitioners (GP, district nurse) and care home staff, healthcare practitioners and social workers and within healthcare (GPs, nurses, occupational therapists, psychiatrists, speech therapists, physios etc.). Unaddressed, this lack of understanding was found to result in tensions and conflict within teams, inappropriate work allocation and difficulty in agreeing responsibility across the skill mix of staff and poor utilisation of skills.^{48,54-56}

Adding to poor relations between different professions working together in integrated models of care, it was noted that the hierarchy between different professions (and within them),

particularly within medicine, further exacerbated the difficulty of interdisciplinary work. In some cases the design of integrated care was found to be geared more towards medicine with social work marginalised, making adaption of work harder for the marginalised professions and also creating a feeling of being undervalued, both by other professions and by leadership.^{33,57} In some cases this impacted negatively on communication, with professions such as nurses, occupational therapists and physiotherapists feeling unable to voice their opinions and challenge doctors within integrated teams.^{35,40,58}

3.2.3 Team work, intra-professional relationships and communication

Teamwork and good intra-professional relationships were factors found to be key to the success of integration across the literature.^{35,52,59-61} In the literature it was clear that there are often assumptions that teamwork will occur unproblematically, enabling smooth transition to integrated ways of working between different professions, organisations and teams. Colocation was frequently equated to the achievement of integration of workforce and successful team work, but co-location was found to be insufficient in itself.^{45,62-63.}

Integration was found to be most successful where time was given to integrate new teams through shared education and learning, both formal and informal, the creation of a positive culture with respect for the different contributions of all professions, and an understanding of each other's roles and positions by all those with a stake in integration.⁶⁴⁻⁶⁵ Given that different professions assess patient need differently, this training was seen as particularly important to ensure common understanding within teams.⁶⁶ Prior conceptions and bias were seen by some to hinder integration and teamwork, particularly by those evaluating integration from a psychological perspective.⁶⁷ Earlier exposure to intra-professional working at medical school was identified by some as facilitating teamwork.⁶⁸ Doctors were found to be particularly capable of bringing others on board as their opinions were frequently valued higher than those of other professions, due to the hierarchical nature of intra-professional teams in medicine.⁵⁹

3.2.4 Context (organisational, professional, regional and national)

Attempts to integrate health and social care are of course always grounded in a specific context which informs all aspects of integration. Context can be conceptualised on multiple levels: for instance, organisational, professional, regional and national. The research literature underlines the importance of acknowledging the significance of context when planning integration as a necessary element for practical, sustainable change.

At an organisation and regional level, available finances and resources, existing workforce capabilities and the strategic approach to integration adopted were all key factors.

Integration was also framed in light of the specific challenges that it was intended to address in each context.^{6,11,69} As organisations merged, the need for good integrated information systems and assessment process was cited to enable flow and sharing of information and to stop duplication across multiple systems. The need for good systems was in part because of an acknowledgement that multiple approaches to integration and work can result in a fragmentation of services, with service users falling between the cracks.⁷⁰

The governing terms and conditions of existing and new staff from across the professions was seen as significant, with equity across contracts and conditions needed to prevent resentment and rifts.⁷¹ Organisational culture and the support offered to staff in bringing about integration was also seen as important to acceptance and engagement.^{34,72}

Within organisations, structural change was repeatedly cited as necessary to achieve the full potential of integration, and to address the aforementioned issues in this section. Structural change however is often unachievable without legislative support, placing a cap on what can be done locally.⁷³ In practice integration was often found to be left to individual innovators or 'boundary spanners' acting as key drivers of change limiting progress and making integration vulnerable to staff changes.^{33,74}

More broadly the historic relationship between health and social care in the UK was found to be a limiting factor on integration.³⁷ Health and social care within the UK are funded separately, measured by different performance frameworks, with different priorities and governance systems and separate information systems. While efforts have been made to address this via joint commissioning, the effects of this are limited by the fact that health and care commissioners still have different statutory responsibilities which cannot be shared or given away, placing a limit on the potential for joint commissioning.^{40,75-77}

The wider national political, economic and social context of the Scotland, England, Wales and Northern Ireland UK was also found to be a key limiting factor for all forms of integration reviewed in the literature.^{6,69} Ongoing cuts, downsizing and a shortage of workforce in health (particularly primary care) and social care were all found to severely limit the potential of integration to make the intended improvements to services across the board.^{21,40,74} For example when looking at integration in North West London for the WSIC programme, Wistow et al⁷⁴ found that it was national barriers that slowed progress, specifically difficulties obtaining data-sharing agreements and establishing information governance arrangements, separate payment systems and governance structures between sectors; and organisational fragmentation. In addition, devolved administration across the countries of the UK provide different contexts, for example it is argued that the emphasis on competition in the Health and Social Care act 2012 in England creates greater barriers to integration in England than in the other devolved administrations (Scotland, Wales, Northern Ireland).

3.3 Measurement and evaluation

In order to evaluate integration for improvement and development, measurement is needed. Poor measurement of integration, as well as a failure to share or learn from findings of previous evaluations of integration, was identified in the literature as a weakness both within the UK and internationally. Existing evaluations and evidence were found by those carrying out reviews of integration to often be of poor quality.^{49-50,78-80} In addition, the tools and models used to measure integration, and indeed what measures were adopted, varied and so assessments are based on different notions of success and failures.

Before effective measurement of integration can take place, a clear definition and understanding of what is meant by integration in each case needs to be understood, as discussed earlier. Those seeking to address the issue of poor measurement argue that integration exists on a continuum and falls into different categories which need to be identified before meaningful measurement can take place.⁸

Once the form of integration has been established, different models of measurement for integration are based around the conception of what full integration in that form would look like.⁸¹ For example, Willumsen et al⁹ note that the degree of integration relates to the level of differentiation (the degree of difference in orientation and formality) between bodies of services; a high degree of differentiation requires a high level of integration, and vice versa. This continuum is then transformed to form a measurement instrument called Scale of Organizational Integration (SOI). This can be used for the analysis of integration both within and between organizations, that is, intra- and inter-organizational integration. In coordination with this they also use Ødegård's⁸²⁻⁸³ conceptual model Perception of Interprofessional Collaboration Model (PINCOM) and measurement instrument (PINCOM-Q), which uses 12 factors that professionals perceive as central aspects of collaboration. These fall into three categories: individual factors (work motivation, role expectations, personality and professional power); group factors (leadership, coping, communication and social support); organisational actors (organisational culture, organisational aims, organisational domain, organisation environment). Similarly Exworthy et al (2017)¹¹ developed a model called TAPIC (transparency, accountability, participation, integrity and capability) which identifies the five mutually exclusive attributes of governance that are thought to influence integration outcomes.

Rather than provide a model, Kharicha et al⁸⁴ highlight a checklist of good measurement practices they argue to be necessary for a valuable evaluation to be possible. These were: study populations to be comparable; details of how services are actually delivered to be obtained and colocation not be assumed to mean collaboration; care packages in areas of comparable resources examined; both destinational outcomes and user defined evaluations of benefit should be considered; possible disadvantages of integrated care also need to be actively considered; evaluations should include an economic analysis.⁸⁴

Irrespective of the model chosen, there was a shared acknowledgment in the literature of the importance of research that is embedded and feedback into integration systems.⁸⁵⁻⁸⁶

3.4 Regional Context

This scoping review of the evidence for integration of health and social care has been carried out to inform the ongoing development and evaluation of integration of health and social care in the City of Manchester. It is therefore important to identify the unique context of the City of Manchester when considering the existing available evidence and how this may impact on the progress of integration, identifying possible barriers and enablers from evaluation of other integrated care systems. Manchester has particular challenges likely to impact on health and social care. These include significant health inequalities and deprivation compared to the rest of England (Greater Manchester Health and Social Care Partnership 2017⁸⁷), an increasing population across all age ranges (Greater Manchester Health und Social Care Partnership 2015⁸⁸), a lower life expectancy and a poor healthy life expectancy with higher levels of long-term conditions and disability when compared to the rest of England (Greater Partnership 2017⁸⁷).

Devolution, as formalised in 2015 in Greater Manchester, has been a driving force to transform health and social care with the opportunity to carry out a strategic re-design to develop a place-based approach for integration.²² One ambition to emerge from devolution and integration given the levels of health inequalities in Greater Manchester was to embed population health and well-being more broadly with an emphasis on preventative work.⁸⁹ This related specifically to ensuring those living with long-term health conditions will be treated by specialists in the community where possible with the intention of reducing hospital admissions. Research on devolution in Greater Manchester has however highlighted its limits, including for integration. Specifically a recent report on devolution⁷³ noted that the GM Partnership has few formal levers to use over NHS organisations, and even fewer in relation to local authorities due to the limited devolvement of powers received.

It is important to note that while devolution has enabled the transformation of integration, from 2015, Greater Manchester has been working towards integration for many years. In the lead up to devolution in Greater Manchester, several pilot programmes were commissioned by the three Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) areas of North, Central and South Manchester to develop and evaluate integration of health and social care in the City of Manchester. Interestingly these three pilot programmes targeted different populations, tested out different processes and systems with different measures all evaluated in different ways but reported similar recommendations.

North focussed on a single team and targeted patients with high risk of admission to hospital.⁹⁰ The evaluation of the North Manchester Integrated Neighbourhood Care pathway found integrated work improved during the project, led to better communication and was valued by most. The key worker role was viewed as important and patients were considered to have benefitted from the key worker drawing on other professionals' expertise when needed. Concerns were raised over the risk stratification tool not being understood, a perception of increased paperwork and the need to justify or account for the increased time taken to work in an integrated way. For some patient groups they found self-care was not always possible. The evaluation was hindered by the lack of integrated IT systems and data throughout the service and could not evaluate the wider impact of integration. Issues to take forward included: selection of patients to focus on; how to approach risk-profiling; how the key worker role can be most effective; the involvement of other services such as GPs and mental health; self-care of patients which is a culture change that needs more development and training for staff.

Central focussed on multiple integrated teams and targeted patients with complex needs including those with Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease (COPD), likelihood of falls and end of life care.⁹¹ They found increasing enthusiasm for the key support worker role and although there wasn't evidence yet to show impact on patient care, there were signs of improved communication between practitioners. This evaluation reported the need for a clear, shared vision, increased understanding of patient independence and more work around the risk stratification tool. They suggested that although the commitment to the principles of integrated care was strong they felt that staff needed to be convinced that integration was intended to improve quality of life not just to save financial resources. Involving other teams such as mental health, specialist services and ensuring sustainability of GP involvement were all recommendations.

In the South of the city they focussed on a single multidisciplinary team (MDT) called a neighbourhood team with a key worker.⁹² They targeted the management of those with long-term conditions and who needed care at home. This evaluation reported improved patient outcomes particularly around the success of the key worker role. They found a reduction in unnecessary hospital admission, readmission and length of hospital stay. Unreliable IT systems hindered provision across services. There were difficulties implementing self-care and integration of professionals due to system boundaries rather than individuals. Future concerns related to recruiting high quality staff as well as justifying cost savings for preventative outcomes that are harder to quantify. The need for integrated care to be sustainable, particularly embedding ongoing GP involvement, was of concern going forward.

These three different proposed integrated pathways and evaluations found several common themes supporting progress and similar concerns around what might hinder integration now or in the future. All three areas found the key worker role was successful and could be developed further. North and Central evaluations indicated that the risk stratification tool had not been successful and would need further development. North and Central also found that the attempt at improving self-care had not always been feasible to implement due to the complexity of this, a lack of understanding and a need for a culture change to embed this in routine care. Both North and Central felt there needed to be more work around the vision of integration to get better buy-in from clinicians and to ensure this was seen as better for patients not just a financial need. The involvement of other services such as mental health and continued provision of GP resource were also considered key to the future of integrated care pathways. There were concerns raised in all locations around information system support.

Integration of health and social care has been described by the Mayor of Greater Manchester, Andy Burnham, as a "big test for devolution" with national and international interest into the progress of this radical transformation of services being organised around neighbourhoods. There has been a history of working towards integration and more recently pilot sites to evaluate various models of integration across the city.⁹⁰⁻⁹² The city of Manchester has complex challenges to face with the health inequalities, but has an opportunity to transform the way it delivers health and social care with a vision to improve the health and well-being of its citizens. This ambitious aim will also strive to meet the public health plan to support people to take control of their own health and the health of others.⁸⁷

4.0 Conclusion

This rapid scoping review has examined the topic of integrated health and social care in the UK in order to inform the current initiative for the integration of health and social care in the city of Manchester.

The review has shown that key to implementation of integration is a clear definition and understanding of what is meant by the term. This means identifying what is specifically meant by integration in this setting, including the scope and aims of integration, and defining this in a way which is meaningful to all stakeholders. This then needs to be communicated and understood across all levels to maximise engagement and commitment to these changes.

Given the difficulty identified in integrating different professions and organisations, investment and planning of this interpersonal level of integration is important. This entails improving understanding of the scope and focus of other professional groups, their statutory obligations and core values, and articulating and challenging tacit assumptions of hierarchies between professions. Co-location and shared education and learning initiatives were found to support this process. It is also crucial that the wider socio-economic and political landscape be considered, including governance, finances and other resources, existing workforce capabilities and the strategic approach to integration adopted. Even where responsibility for health and care has been devolved, wider national legal and financial barriers and the historical divide between health and social care will constrain what can be achieved at a regional level.

Assumptions of what integration will deliver need to be considered carefully. While some positive outcomes have been identified elsewhere, so far these have not always been found to be generalisable and so caution needs to be taken when applying these to Manchester. In addition, approaches to integration in the research literature have been predominantly process focused, meaning direct effects on patients in many cases are not known as the emphasis has been on the impact on working practices and the workforce. While research has shown care can be improved through integration, this does not necessarily mean cost savings, a factor which needs to be budgeting for in planning.

Existing literature on the integration of health and social care tends to focus on targeted groups of patients at a micro level, hence less is known about organisational and macro system level integration. In addition, how integration will affect a geographic area when a specific group has not been targeted is also less known.

This summary findings inform the analysis conducted as part of the process evaluation of the implementation of integrated health and social care in the City of Manchester, which is presented in **Report part B: Process evaluation**.

5.0 References

1. Armitage G.D, Suter E, Oelke N.D, et al. Health systems integration: state of the evidence. *International Journal of Integrated Care* 2009;9:e82.

2. Kodner D L and Spreeuwenberg C. Integrated care: meaning, logic, applications, and implications–a discussion paper. *International journal of integrated care* 2002; 2(4).

3. Rosen R, Mountford J, Lewis G, et al. *Integration in action: four international case studies*. London: The Nuffield Trust 2011.

4. Stokes J, Checkland K and Kristensen S R. Integrated care: theory to practice. *Journal of health services research & policy* 2016;21(4):282-85.

5. Baxter S, Johnson M, Chambers D, Sutton A, Goyder E and Booth A. The effects of integrated care: a systematic review of UK and international evidence. *BMC Health Services Research* 2018;18(1):350.

6. Robertson H. Integration of health and social care: A review of literature and models. Implications for Scotland. *Royal College of Nursing Scotland* 2011: 1-42.

7. Singer S J, Kerrissey M, Friedberg M and Phillips R. A Comprehensive Theory of Integration. *Medical Care Research and Review* (2018): 1-23.

8. Ahgren B, and Axelsson R, Evaluating integrated health care: a model for measurement. *International Journal of Integrated Care* 2005;5(3).

9. Willumsen E, Ahgren B and Ødegård A. A conceptual framework for assessing interorganizational integration and interprofessional collaboration, *Journal of Interprofessional Care* 2012;26(3):198-204.

10. Ahmed F, Mays N, Ahmed N, Bisognano, M and Gottlieb G. Can the Accountable Care. Organization model facilitate integrated care in England? *Journal of Health Services Research & Policy* 2015;20(4):261-64.

11. Exworthy M, Powell M, and Glasby J. The governance of integrated health and social care in England since 2010: great expectations not met once again? *Health Policy* 2017;121(11):1124-30.

12. Department of Health. High quality care for all. NHS next stage review final report. 2008.

<u>https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/228836/7432.p</u> <u>df</u> (accessed 20th November 2018).

13. Barker K. A new settlement for health and social care. 2014.

https://www.kingsfund.org.uk/sites/default/files/field/field_publication_file/commission-interim-new-settlementhealth-social-care-apr2014.pdf.

14. NHS England. Next steps on the NHS five year forward view. London. NHS England 2017.

15. NHS England. *Five Year Forward View*. 2014. <u>https://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2014/10/5yfv-web.pdf</u>. (accessed 31st January 2019).

16. Department of Health. Health and Social Care Act. London: HMSO. 2012.

17. Morse A. Health and social care integration. National Audit Office, London 2017.

18. Imison C, Curry N, Holder H, et al. Shifting the balance of care: Great expectations. The Nuffield Trust 2017.

19. Nolte E, Pitchforth E. *What is the evidence on the economic impacts of integrated care?* <u>http://www.euro.who.int/___data/assets/pdf_file/0019/251434/What-is-the-evidence-on-the-economic-impacts-of-integrated-care.pdf?ua=1 2014 (Accessed 25 January 2019).</u>

20. Curry N, Ham C. Clinical and service integration: the route to improved outcomes. 2010.

https://www.kingsfund.org.uk/sites/default/files/Clinical-and-service-integration-Natasha-Curry-Chris-Ham-22-November-2010.pdf (accessed 25 January 2019).

21. Leichsenring, K. Developing integrated health and social care services for older persons in Europe. *International journal of integrated care* 2004;4(3).

22. Local Government Association. *Charting the progress on the health devolution journey: early lessons from Greater Manchester* 2016. <u>https://www.local.gov.uk/sites/default/files/documents/charting-progress-health--</u> <u>d30.pdf</u> (Accessed November 27th 2018).

23. Kaehne A, Birrell D, Miller R and Petch A. Bringing integration home: Policy on health and social care integration in the four nations of the UK. *Journal of Integrated Care* 2017;25(2): 84-98.

24. Goodwin N. The long term importance of English primary care groups for integration in primary health care and deinstitutionalisation of hospital care. *International Journal of Integrated Care* 2001;1(1).

25. Beacon A. Practice-integrated care teams – learning for a better future. *Journal of Integrated Care* 2015;2(2):74-87.

26. Bower P, Reeves D, Sutton M, Lovell K, Blakemore A, Hann M, et al. Improving care for older people with long-term conditions and social care needs in Salford: the CLASSIC mixed-methods study, including RCT. *Health Services Delivery Res* 2018; 6:31.

27. Lewis G, Vaithianathan R, Wright L, Brice M, Lovell P, Rankin S and Bardsley M. Integrating care for high-risk patients in England using the virtual ward model: lessons in the process of care integration from three case sites. *International journal of integrated care* 2013;13(4).

28. Syson G and Bond J. Integrating health and social care teams in Salford. *Journal of Integrated Care* 2010;18(2):17-24.

29. Stanmore E & Waterman H. Crossing professional and organizational boundaries: The implementation of generic Rehabilitation Assistants within three organizations in the northwest of England, *Disability and Rehabilitation* 2007;29(9):751-59.

30. Warne T, McAndrew S, King M and Holland K. Learning to listen to the organisational rhetoric of primary health and social care integration. *Nurse Education Today* 2007; 27(8):947-54.

31. Atherton I.M, Lynch E, Williams A.J, and Witham M.D. Barriers and solutions to linking and using health and social care data in Scotland. *The British Journal of Social Work* 2015;45(5):1614-22.

32. Bruce D, and Parry B. Integrated care: a Scottish perspective. *London Journal of Primary Care* 2015;7(3):44-48.

33. Pearson C and Watson N. Implementing health and social care integration in Scotland: Renegotiating new partnerships in changing cultures of care. *Health & social care in the community* 2018;26(3):396-403.

34. Hutchison K. An exploration of the integration of health and social care within Scotland: Senior stakeholders' views of the key enablers and barriers. *Journal of Integrated Care* 2015;23(3):129-42.

35. Atwal A. and Caldwell K. Do all health and social care professionals interact equally: a study of interactions in multidisciplinary teams in the United Kingdom. *Scandinavian Journal of Caring Sciences* 2005;19(3):268-73.

36. Taylor A. New act, new opportunity for integration in Scotland. Journal of Integrated Care, 2015: 23(1): 3-9.

37. Lotinga A. Context matters: general practice and social work – the Birmingham story: *Journal of Integrated Care* 2015;23(2):88-95.

38. Karakusevic S. Designing an Integrated Health Care System — What are the Key Features? *Journal of Integrated Care* 2010;18(4): 36-42.

39. Raghallaigh M. Allen M. Cunniffe R and Quin R. Experiences of Social Workers in Primary Care in Ireland: *Social Work in Health Care* 2013;52(10).

40. Glendinning C. (Breaking down barriers: integrating health and care services for older people in England. *Health policy* 2003;65(2):139-51.

41. Alaszewski A, Baldock J.C, Billings J.R, Coxon K, and Twigg J. Providing integrated health and social care for older persons in the United Kingdom. *Centre for Health Services Studies*, *University of Kent at Canterbury* 2003.

42. de Carvalho IA, Epping-Jordan J, Pot A.M, Kelley E, Toro N, Thiyagarajan J.A, and Beard J.R. Organizing integrated health-care services to meet older people's needs. *Bulletin of the World Health Organization* 2017;95(11):756-63.

43. Bokhour B. Communication in interdisciplinary team meetings: What are we talking about? *Journal of Interprofessional Care* 2006;20(4):349-63.

44. Briggs A.M, Valentijn P.P, Thiyagarajan J.A, et al. Elements of integrated care approaches for older people: a review of reviews. *BMJ Open* 2018.

45. Brown L, Tucker C, and Domokos T. Evaluating the impact of integrated health and social care teams on older people living in the community. *Health & Social Care in the Community* 2003;11(2):85-94.

46. Banarsee R, Kelly C, El-Osta A, Thomas P, and Brophy C. Towards a strategic alignment of public health and primary care practices at local levels – the case of severe and enduring mental illness. *London Journal of Primary Care*, 2018;10(2): 19-23.

47. Kasteridis P, Street A, Dolman M, Gallier L, Hudson K, Martin J and Wyer I. Who would most benefit from improved integrated care? Implementing an analytical strategy in South Somerset. *International journal of integrated care* 2015;15(1).

48. Piercy H, Fowler-Davis S, Dunham M and Cooper C. Evaluation of an integrated service delivering post diagnostic care and support for people living with dementia and their families. *Health & social care in the community* 2018; 26(6): 819-828.

49. Cameron A, Lart R, Bostock L and Coomber C. Factors that promote and hinder joint and integrated working between health and social care services: a review of research literature. *Health & Social Care in the Community* 2014;22(3):225-33.

50. Cameron A. What have we learnt about joint working between health and social care? *Public Money & Management* 2016;36(1):7-14.

51. Humphries R. Integrated health and social care in England–progress and prospects. *Health Policy* 2015;119(7):856-59.

52. Roberts N. Ward M. Patel I, Yorke J and Partridge M. Reflections on integrated care from those working in and leading integrated respiratory teams. *London Journal of Primary Care* 2018; 10(2):24-30.

53. Redwood S, Brangan E, Leach V, Horwood J and Donovan J L. Integration of research and practice to improve public health and healthcare delivery through a collaborative 'Health Integration Team' model - a qualitative investigation. *BMC health services research* 2016;16(1):201.

54. Glaser, B and Suter, E. Interprofessional collaboration and integration as experienced by social workers in health care. *Social Work in Health Care* 2016;55(5):395-408.

55. Amador S, Goodman C, Maithe E, and Nicholson C. Evaluation of an Organisational Intervention to Promote Integrated Working between Health Services and Care Homes in the Delivery of End-of-Life Care for People with

Dementia: Understanding the Change Process Using a Social Identity Approach. *International Journal of Integrated Care* 2016;16(2)14:1–11.

56. Jones, R, Bhanbhro S M, Grant R and Hood R. The definition and deployment of differential core professional competencies and characteristics in multiprofessional health and social care teams. *Health & social care in the community* 2013;21(1): 47-58.

57. Hudson A. Social work: a "forgotten" piece of the integration jigsaw? *Journal of Integrated Care* 2015;23(2):96-103.

58. Mangan C, Miller R, and Ward C. Knowing me, knowing you: Inter-professional working between general practice and social care. *Journal of Integrated Care* 2015: 23(2): 62-73.

59. O'Reilly P, Lee SH, O'Sullivan M, Cullen W, Kennedy C, MacFarlane A. Assessing the facilitators and barriers of interdisciplinary team working in primary care using normalisation process theory: An integrative review *PLoS One* 2017. 12(5): e0177026.

60. Pethybridge J. How team working influences discharge planning from hospital: a study of four multidisciplinary teams in an acute hospital in England. *Journal of Interprofessional Care* 2004; 18(1): 29-41.

61. Madge S and Khair K. Multidisciplinary teams in the United Kingdom: problems and solutions. *Journal of Pediatric Nursing* 2000;15(2):131-34.

62. Carpenter J and Dickinson C. Understanding interprofessional education as an intergroup encounter: The use of contact theory in programme planning, *Journal of Interprofessional Care* 2016;30(1):103-08.

63. Coxon K. Common Experiences of Staff Working in Integrated Health and Social Care Organisations: A European Perspective. *Journal of Integrated Care* 2005;13(2):13-21.

64. Howarth M, Holland K, and Grant M.J. Education needs for integrated care: a literature review. *Journal of Advanced Nursing* 2006; 56(2): 144-156.

65. Nisbet G, Dunn S and Lincoln M. Interprofessional team meetings: Opportunities for informal interprofessional learning. *Journal of interprofessional Care* 2015;29(5): 426-32.

66. Huxley P, Evans S, Munroe M, and Cestari L. Integrating health and social care in community mental health teams in the UK: a study of assessments and eligibility criteria in England. *Health & social care in the community* 2008;16(5):476-82.

67. Groen B.M. Why integrated healthcare is harder than we think: How social cognitive processes hinder successful health and care service delivery, *Journal of Enterprise Transformation* 2016;6(3-4):120-35.

68. McGettigan P and McKendree J. Interprofessional training for final year healthcare students: a mixed methods evaluation of the impact on ward staff and students of a two-week placement and of factors affecting sustainability: *BMC medical education* 2015;159(1):185.

69. Stewart A. Petch A and Curtice L. Moving towards integrated working in health and social care in Scotland: from maze to matrix. *Journal of Interprofessional Care* 2003; 17(4):335-50.

70. Ham C, Curry N. Integrated care: What is it? Does it work? What does it mean for the NHS?: King's Fund 2011.

71. Fernandez J.L, McGuire A, and Raikou M. Hospital Coordination and Integration with Social Care in England: The Effect on Post-Operative Length of Stay. *Journal of Health Economics* 2018; 61(1) 233-243.

72. Brand D. Social and health care integration: (1) The individual dimension. *Journal of Integrated Care* 2012;20(6):371-78.

73. Walshe K, Lorne C, Coleman A, et al. *Devolving health and social care: learning from Greater Manchester*. University of Manchester 2018. <u>https://www.mbs.ac.uk/media/ambs/content-assets/documents/news/devolving-health-and-social-care-learning-from-greater-manchester.pdf</u>. (Accessed 25 January 2019).

74. Wistow G, Gaskins M, Holder H, et al. Putting integrated care into practice: the North West London experience. London: *Nuffield Trust* 2015.

75. Hammond J, Lorne C, Coleman A, Allen P, Mays N, Dam R, & Checkland K. The spatial politics of place and health policy: Exploring Sustainability and Transformation Plans in the English NHS. *Social Science & Medicine* 2017;190:217-26.

76. Checkland K, Dam R, Hammond J, Coleman A, Segar J, Mays N, & Allen P. Being autonomous and having space in which to act: commissioning in the 'new NHS' in England. *Journal of social policy* 2018;47(2):377-95.

77. Mason A, Goddard M, Weatherly H and Chalkley M. Integrating funds for health and social care: an evidence review: *Journal of health services research & policy* 2015; 20(3):177-88.

78. Hayes S, Mann MK, Morgan F, Kelly M, Weightman AL. Collaboration between local health and local government agencies for health improvement. *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews*. 2012;10:1-38.

79. Hughes G, Dayson C, Fothergill S, Goodchild B, Eadson W, Morris Z.A, Pries J. and von Benzon N. New models of care: the policy discourse of integrated care. *People, Place & Policy Online* 2017;11(2): 72-89.

80. Saint-Pierre C, Herskovic V and Sepúlveda M. Multidisciplinary collaboration in primary care: a systematic review. *Family practice* 2017;35(2):132-41.

81. van Duijn S, et al. Service Integration Across Sectors in Europe: Literature and Practice. *International Journal of Integrated Care* 2018;2(60):1–13.

82. Ødegård A. Exploring perceptions of interprofessional collaboration in child mental health care. *International Journal of Integrated Care*. 2006; 6(4).

83. Ødegård A and Strype J. Perceptions of interprofessional collaboration within child mental health care in Norway. *Journal of Interprofessional Care* 2009; 23(3): 286–296.

84. Kharicha K, Levin E, Iliffe S and Davey B. Social work, general practice and evidence-based policy in the collaborative care of older people: current problems and future possibilities. *Health & social care in the community*:2004;12(2): 134-141.

85. Eyre L, Farrell M, and Marshall M. What can a participatory approach to evaluation contribute to the field of integrated care?. *BMJ Qual Saf* 2017; 1;26(7):588-94.

86. Ward V, Pinkney L and Fry G. Developing a framework for gathering and using service user experiences to improve integrated health and social care: the SUFFICE framework. *BMC research notes* 2016;9(1):437.

87. Greater Manchester Health and Social Care Partnership. *The Greater Manchester Population Health Plan* 2017-2021. 2017.

88. Greater Manchester Health and Social Care Partnership. *Taking charge of our health and social care in Greater Manchester*. 2015. <u>http://www.gmhsc.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2018/04/GM-Strategic-Plan-Final.pdf</u>.

89. Ham C. What Devo Manc could mean for health, social care and wellbeing in Greater Manchester. *The King's Fund Blog London: The King's Fund* 2015.

90. North Manchester Integration Network Community. *Evaluation of Neighbourhood Integrated Care in North Manchester*. Draft report, 2014.

91. Hall A. Central Manchester Practice Integrated Care Team. 2014.

92. Simmill-Binning C. *NHS South Manchester CCG Integrated Care Evaluation*: Lancaster University, Report not dated.